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PUBLISHERS NOTE


Due to the historical nature of this memoir, some of the language and ideas may be offensive to the modern reader. To preserve the integrity of the text, we have retained this content in its original form.




FOREWORD


In the foreword to the first volume of my autobiography, Bugles and a Tiger, I wrote – ‘The purpose of this book … is to tell the story of how a schoolboy became a professional soldier of the old Indian Army. In the course of the story I hope to have given an idea of what India was like in those last twilit days of the Indian Empire, and something more than a tourist’s view of some of the people who lived there.’


The Road Past Mandalay carries the narrative through to the end of the Second World War. Its purpose is to tell the story of how a professional officer of the old Indian Army reached some sort of maturity both as a soldier and a man. Some parts of the story are very unpleasant – so was the war it records; others are almost painfully personal – but this is not a battle diary: this is the story of one man’s life. Of death and love I cannot say less with honesty or more with propriety.


There is another difference than that of time between this and the earlier volume. I think most people read Bugles and a Tiger for its depiction of a strange and rather romantic kind of life led by a very few. This book, The Road Past Mandalay, tells of experiences shared with scores of millions, not yet middle-aged, who have fought in war, have loved, have known separation and discomfort and danger. My story is not unique and I am not a hero, but an ordinary man, and I have written this narrative because I believe that many of you will recognise in it parts of your own life, and know that in writing of myself I have written, also, of you and for you.


As in Bugles I warn that this is a factual story but not a history. I have checked every detail as carefully as I can but as I kept no diary and made no notes my memory may sometimes have deceived me. If it has, again, forgive me.


J. M.





Book One




ACTION, WEST
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Chapter One



Before dawn, the order reached us: The armoured cars of the 13th Lancers were to make a wide outflanking movement into the desert, round the right of the enemy’s position defending the small Syrian town of Deir-es-Zor. The 10th Gurkhas were to attack astride the main road. We – the 2nd Battalion of the 4th Gurkhas – were to stay in camp, in reserve, at five minutes’ notice for action.


My colonel, Willy Weallens, read the message with a darkening face. He jammed on his hat, abruptly ordered me to follow him, and hurried to Brigade Headquarters. When we were admitted to the brigadier’s presence – ‘Why aren’t we leading the assault, sir?’ Willy snapped.


The brigadier said that we had been leading for about eight weeks now, and it was someone else’s turn. Willy said he didn’t see what that had to do with it – sir. The order was a deliberate insult to the 4th Gurkhas. Patiently the brigadier explained the benefits of a system of rotation of duties. Willy fumed visibly. He tugged at the brim of his hat, kicked the sand with the toe of his boot, and looked daggers at the brigadier. Although I didn’t know it at the time, since I had never seen a baseball game, Willy was giving a perfect demonstration of how to protest a called strike. The result was the same: we remained in reserve.


The brigadier went forward with his command group. Sulkily Willy waited at the main headquarters, at the rear end of the unreeling field telephone line, and I waited with him. Three or four miles ahead Deir-es-Zor gleamed white on its low hill above the right bank of the Euphrates. The dusty road led straight towards it. To the left a long escarpment of black and grey cliffs marked the southern limit of the arena; the northern limit was the broad, yellow flood of the Euphrates. A neat set-piece battle was about to begin between the Vichy French and their troops, mainly Syrian, who were holding Deir-es-Zor, and the 21st Brigade of the 10th Indian Infantry Division, who intended to capture it. It was early morning on the 4th of July, 1941, and already the temperature had passed 100 in the shade, but there was no shade, except a strong yellow glary kind in the tents. There were only two tents in the whole vast bivouac area. Both were very large and, though a dull brown colour, very conspicuous. One held the Main Dressing Station, full of men wounded in earlier bombing attacks. A large red cross painted on its roof made it more conspicuous still. The other was Brigade Headquarters, where Willy and I waited.


An anti-aircraft sentry swung his Bren gun on its mount and peered intently to the west, beyond Deir-es-Zor. Soon I made out nine silver arrows in the sky out there, and diffidently informed Willy that we were about to be bombed again. I added that there were now only two obvious targets in the camp – the two tents. The planes were American-built Martin Maryland medium bombers, provided to the French in the early days of the war in order to fight the Germans, and now being used by Pétain’s government against us.


Long dark oblongs formed in the plane’s bellies as they opened their bomb bays. They came on in a tight formation of three stepped-up Vs, the sun gleaming on their silver bodies. They looked beautiful, and I stepped down into the nearest slit trench. A score of Bren guns began to rattle, and tracer streamed up in long, lovely curves against the blue sky. Directly overhead bombs fell from the bays in a glittering shower. The whistling rose to a multitudinous shriek, the explosions roared, eruptions of earth marched in long parallel lines across the camp. Two bombs fell directly into the Main Dressing Station, killing twenty of the men who lay awaiting evacuation to base hospitals. The Martins wheeled slowly above the sun.


‘This will be for us, sir,’ I said. I huddled well down into the trench but watched the bombers, for by now I could judge to within a few yards just where bombs would land. When the shining bombs left the black bays, I knew that Willy and I were for it. I dived flat in the trench and lay on my face, my arms crossed on the back of my head. Round the angle of the L-shaped trench Willy did the same. Or, I presume he did. He might have thought the pilots up there could see him, and then he would have remained standing, or begun to read a book.


The scream of the bombs grew louder. Suddenly the ground jumped. A huge force lifted and shook me and the trench and the whole earth in which the trench had been dug, moving everything bodily upwards and sideways. Thick yellow earth clogged my mouth and nostrils and I began to choke. A sharp pain on the left cheek of my buttocks forced the earth out of my mouth in a yell.


The thunder of the bombs died away. Through the cloud of settling earth I heard Willy’s voice, ‘Are you hit, Jack?’ I put my hand on my wound, and yelled again. Willy was bending over me with a look of terrible anxiety on his face.


I thought, what a gentleman you are, colonel dear, and scrambled to my feet. I held out my hand. In the palm lay a still hot .303 bullet, one of ours. Fired at the Martins by a Bren gun, it had become red hot in its passage through the air, and fallen precisely on to my arse as I cowered in the trench, burning a small hole in my trousers and in me. At the same time a 250-pound bomb had fallen about ten feet from my end of the trench. Willy and I were standing in the trench at the rim of the crater it had formed. The force of the explosion had bodily shifted the whole trench, so that it now lay several degrees off its previous line.


The telephone buzzed. The brigadier at the other end ordered us to advance a certain distance behind the 10th Gurkhas, well closed-up and in tight control, ready to repel counter-attacks or to exploit success. A couple of orders and we moved off astride the road. I could hear small arms fire from the direction of Deir-es-Zor. Something went bang, sharp but not very loud, close to my feet. Some dust rose, but very little. Still slightly deafened and dazed by the bombing, I had no idea what it was, and could not summon the interest to find out. Several more bangs followed. I plodded on.


Willy, a few paces to my left, looked at me with an approving smile – ‘That’s the way, Jack! Set an example … You’re a good cool one.’


Another bang, and another puff of dust rose between me and the nearest rifleman. ‘What is that, sir?’ I asked Willy.


His expression changed. He said crossly, ‘Shells, you ass! We’re being shelled by French 75s from the edge of the town up there. You are wet behind the ears, aren’t you?’


My knees began to ache with the effort of keeping up that steady, nonchalant plod. I was being shelled, for the first time in my life. By French 75s. The master gun of World War I. Could fire 20 rounds a minute, effective range 8,000 yards, weight of shell 13 pounds, effective lethal zone of burst about – I looked at the next puff of dust, which rose almost between a rifleman’s legs – about two feet, apparently. We continued to advance.


Willy was angry with himself at having shown emotion on my behalf – twice now, for he knew I’d seen his anxiety in the trench – and insisted that this wasn’t real shelling. The famous French 75 was a mere peashooter. Bang bang.


I said I’d rather be shelled than bombed, any day. Bang. A small hole appeared in the wide brim of my Gurkha hat. Willy shouted, ‘You wait – (bang) – until you’ve really been shelled – (bang) You don’t know – (bang) – what you’re talking about.’


Bang!


His words, and their accompaniment, will serve as a proper introduction to this narrative.


I was twenty-six years old and my substantive rank was lieutenant, though the expansion of the war had made me a temporary captain. Born in Calcutta of a family that had even then served for four generations in India, I was educated at Wellington and the Royal Military College, Sandhurst, in England; on August 30, 1934, received a 2nd lieutenant’s commission in His Majesty’s Land Forces and immediately went out to serve as one of the small band of British regular officers in the Indian Army.


The British Army, where both officers and men were British, also had large forces in India. In the Indian Army all the enlisted men were Indian; the officers were British, in slow process of being replaced by Indians.


Since I must use the names throughout this book, I had better explain here that in the Indian Army we had, besides officers who held the King’s Commission, others who held their commission from the Viceroy of India. These latter were always men who had risen through the ranks, and so were of the same caste and tribe as the enlisted men – in our case, Gurkhas. They ranked, in order, below 2nd lieutenants as follows: Subadar Major (only one in a battalion: the colonel’s right-hand man and adviser in all matters relating to Gurkha customs, religion, and morale); Subadar (commanded a platoon, or was second-in-command of a company); Jemadar (commanded a platoon). They were all saluted, held powers of discipline and punishment, and were called Sahib. The non-commissioned ranks were: Havildar Major (first sergeant, sergeant-major); Havildar (sergeant); Naik or Amaldar (corporal); Lance Naik (lance-corporal). The plain private soldier was usually called Sepoy, but all Gurkha regiments were Rifles (this is an old distinction without any practical modern difference, though a potent factor in esprit-de-corps) so our soldiers were called Riflemen.


Of Gurkhas, what can I say that will compress the knowledge of fourteen years, and all the love and admiration it gave me, into a few sentences? Their homeland is Nepal, the small country sandwiched along the Himalayas between India and Tibet. They are of Mongol extraction; small and sturdy in stature; mountain men all; endowed with an inborn honesty towards life that gives them perfect self-confidence, without any need for swashbuckling or boasting; as fond of pranks as of discipline; cheerful under the worst conditions – especially under the worst conditions; brave, courteous … well, you get the idea: I thought highly of the men with whom it was my privilege to serve.


The regiment I joined in 1935 was the 4th Prince of Wales’s Own Gurkha Rifles, in the 2nd Battalion. During four years of ‘peace’ with it I fought in two campaigns on India’s North West Frontier, shot a tiger and two snipe, attended the usual professional schools, had a great many love affairs, learned something about my profession, crossed the United States on a long furlough, and added four years to my age. Of all this, of the gaiety and the grimness, of the hard processes of learning and the wild abandon of young men, of the atmosphere of that India, I have tried to tell something in Bugles and a Tiger, referred to in the foreword.


To me, and to the battalion, war came on September 3, 1939, in the little Indian outpost of Loralai, near the Afghan border. By then I was the Adjutant.
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Chapter Two



We were a battalion of regulars, who had marched and fought and played together for five, ten, twenty-five years. We did not remain that way for long. War expansion began at once, and we had to send hundreds of men away to form the cores of new battalions, training depots, and the like. We filled the vacant places in the enlisted ranks with raw recruits and rusty reservists, and, among the officers, with tea planters, coffee planters, junior tycoons from the great merchant houses of Calcutta and Bombay, and boys just out of school. Most of them had done some weekend soldiering with the Auxiliary Force, but they had much to learn and an unknown but certainly short time to learn it in.


My time was spent wrestling like Laocoon with promotion rolls, equipment states, company strengths, hospital reports, and training programmes. One day I looked up to find a tall young Indian standing in my office. He wore an ill-fitting uniform, a cheerful smile and the badges of a lieutenant of the Indian Medical Service. I frowned ferociously. No one is supposed to smile in the office of an Adjutant. The young man said his name was Dutt, and that he had been posted as our medical officer. This was a shock, as in those days all King’s Commissioned officers in a Gurkha battalion were British. Still, we would have to make the best of it. I pulled an officer’s record sheet towards me, and asked, ‘Name?’


‘Dutt,’ he said, ‘I just told you.’


‘Rank?’


‘Lieutenant, I.M.S.’


‘Christian names?’


‘None.’


I put down the pen and stared at him. ‘I am very busy,’ I began coldly. ‘And …’


‘I am not a Christian,’ he said with a triumphant beam, ‘so how can I have Christian names? I am Hindu, and my full name is Santa Padhaya Dutt, if that is what you want to know.’


I stared at the paper as though it had bitten me. ‘Christian name’ is, in English-English, the normal phrase for ‘first name.’ I realised suddenly that it was not a mere phrase, it meant exactly what it said. The point had never arisen before. Times were changing. There was a war on. Oh well … I silently quoted one of my colonel’s pet phrases – ‘Worse things happen at sea.’


‘Have you seen the colonel yet?’ I asked the doctor.


‘No, I am looking forward to that pleasure,’ he said.


‘Wait here …’ I began, then the colonel’s voice called me from his office next door.


Lt. Col. W. R. W. Weallens sat in the big chair behind his desk looking at a small oblong of pasteboard. His expression was much like that of an insulted bloodhound. Since this was normal with him, I did not become alarmed.


‘Have you seen one of these?’ he asked.


‘Yes, sir,’ I said. It was a calling card, still a required item of an officer’s equipment in 1940. The inscription, in the correct copperplate print, said, Mr R. L. H. Werner, and, on the line below, 4th Prince of Wales’s Own Gurkha Rifles. The form was correct, I knew, because I had written out for each of the new officers exactly what he must have printed on his card, taking special care to point out that Wales was not a plural and that therefore it was Wales’s, not Wales’, a common but disastrous solecism.


Willy said, ‘Emergency Commissioned officers cannot be Members of the Regiment. They’re only attached from the General List. That’s what they should have printed on their cards.’


I looked at him with awe, exasperation, and affection. Twenty years older than I, he had been passed over for command some years earlier, and sent to work out his time for pension in the Publications Department at Delhi. Before that, during a short spell of service together in 1936 and 1937, he had shown sharp distaste for me, my dress, attitude, morals, and shade of hair, a distaste which I had returned by poorly concealed insubordination, for I was then a 2nd lieutenant and he a senior major. In 1940 the powers pulled him out of Publications, where he was dying of shame, and gave him all that he had ever asked of life – command of his own battalion, of his own regiment, in war.


When he reached Loralai he found that I was the Adjutant, his chief staff officer and personal confidant. But our experiences in the intervening years had chastened both of us, and though he could have fired me at any moment, we got on well from the start. Military comradeship grew into something much more as he realised that though I was a mannerless little blighter of the Jazz Age I loved the regiment and the Gurkhas as much as he did. For my part I soon understood that he was not an ignorant old curmudgeon but a brave and honest Edwardian gentleman, suffering from a needless complex about his capacity as a soldier. The complex was caused by the fact that he had never attended the Staff College for higher military instruction, and I noted that, too.


Now we stared at each other across the slip of pasteboard. I wanted to say, ‘Times have changed. Calling cards don’t matter any more, still less what’s written on them.’ I wanted to give him a lecture on the relative importance of efficiency and correct form in time of war. But none of that would be any use. There was a way, though. I must mention the 4th Gurkhas.


I said, ‘Very well, sir. I’ll tell them to get new ones printed … But if any of them win the V.C. while they’re with us, I suppose we’ll have to say that it wasn’t a 4th Gurkha who won it, only some chap on the General List.’


Willy glared at me, his lips tight. Slowly his wonderful smile, a little prim, a little uncertain, transformed his face. ‘Get out,’ he said.


‘Yes, sir,’ I said. ‘Our medical officer’s arrived. Lieutenant Santa Padhaya Dutt. I think he’s going to be a good egg.’


‘I wonder if he knows Colonel Dabholkar,’ Willy said eagerly. He jumped to his feet. ‘Doc Dabholkar was the best doctor in action we ever had. I remember in ’16 … Send him in!’ Before I’d left the room he was greeting young Dutt with outstretched hand, as happy and open as a boy.


God damn it, I muttered, when the door closed behind them. God damn it, when will I ever learn how complicated people are.


They moved us a couple of hundred miles down the frontier to Quetta, where we practised even harder to fit ourselves for the war already raging in the Libyan Desert. We were soon trained to a hair, but we lacked a number of items of equipment then considered essential for a well-dressed battalion about to take part in a battle. Gas masks, motor cycles, and most of our trucks we had, also mosquito nets, but we did not have enough Bren guns, and no anti-tank rifles at all. Day and night a small squadron of officers and non-coms blockaded the local arsenal, howling for 2-inch mortars, of which we were supposed to have sixteen and had none, and 3-inch mortars, of which we were supposed to have six and had two, and Bren-gun carriers, the little tracked semi-armoured vehicles on which much of our tactics was based, of which we had none.


All our indents for these items were returned ‘N.A.’ (Not available.) Roger Werner, lately a tea planter and now our Transport Officer, muttered, ‘Do they expect us to fight the Germans with our bare hands?’


The regulars laughed sardonically, and I said, ‘My boy, the Army Estimates must be reduced!’


The regulars were still, just, in a majority. Between us and the E.C.O.s (Emergency Commissioned Officers) there was very little of that friction which had added so greatly to the unpleasantness of the first war. Both sides had learned a lot since 1914. Regulars no longer thought it funny to refer to E.C.O.s as ‘temporary gentlemen,’ nor to subject them to humiliating lessons in deportment. On their part, the E.C.O.s realised that our collective name was not Blimp, that we knew our craft, and intended to teach it to them, thoroughly and quickly, for the common good. The E.C.O.s’ only fault was a marked distaste for the chores of administration. They had volunteered to fight, not to count shirts and weigh rice. Tactics, map reading, shooting – to these they bent their energies with enthusiasm, but a lesson on the law of evidence met glum, almost surly faces; and an order to spend four hours double-checking the next-of-kin rolls caused mutinous grumbles – Why can’t the company clerk do it?’ We answered, ‘Because these are your men, not his.’ As the months passed even these disagreements vanished and we settled down, one with another, and formed a new entity – the wartime regular battalion.


In England, my father, ten years since retired as a lieutenant-colonel, crept about the Devon hills with tin hat and rifle as commander of the Uplyme Home Guard. The Germans dropped bombs on the peaceful fields and Spitfires dropped empty shell cases on the street.


In Cyrenaica, General Wavell inflicted a crushing defeat on the Italians. The 4th Indian Division led the assault. Indian troops were in action and we were not. Willy’s face became a symphony of woe. There was only one ray of light: no Gurkha battalion had yet beaten us into battle.


In the evenings my duties would often take me down to his big bungalow on Queen’s Road with papers and orders and messages. His wife Biddy treated me, and indeed all the other subalterns, as though we were still hungry overgrown schoolboys, plying us with cake and a wonderful motherly sympathy, embracing but undemanding, that was also having its effect in softening Willy’s temperament. (They had not been married long.) Willy himself always caused me deep embarrassment on these visits. Brusque and even curt on parade, as soon as he reached his home he became a plain gentleman, and a host. The fact that I was far his junior and his adjutant made no difference. When I arrived he helped me out of my greatcoat – in winter Quetta is as cold as Montana. When I fumbled for a cigarette he was halfway across the room with a match. When I left he hurried ahead to open the car door for me. The next morning, full of affection, I’d greet him with a salute and a smile; his face would always be cold and set – ‘The Quarterguard turned out like a pack of sailors to me just now. And what’s Tumbahadur doing at the …’


We lived and moved in a peculiarly uncommitted atmosphere. No one knew when we would reach the big war, or exactly where, so we couldn’t tie ourselves to that. The Frontier stretched away to the north – but we’d left that. England was being bombed, There Was a War On, men were dying on two con tinents – but the girls and wives and grass widows here in Quetta still wore long dresses to the club dances, and all of us changed into mess kit for dinner, and into dinner jackets to go to the club, and the girls and wives and grass widows were very gay, and we organised picnics up the Hanna Valley, and games of Charades and Sardines, and someone found a camera by the Hanna Lake and handed it to a shop to be developed so that they might know whose it was, and the pictures showed many respectable ladies and gentlemen prancing about with no clothes on at all, in suggestive or plain copulatory attitudes; and we danced in the club and dined in beautiful drawing-rooms and flirted in dark gardens, and it was all a game except when suddenly it wasn’t, when the satin skin moved differently under your hand and the low voices, your own among them, tried to ward off with jokes the unexpected assault of love, unexpected and unwanted because earlier that day you had already been caught in the same way, when the clacking roar of machine-gun bullets dipped suddenly close on the field firing range, and war showed its face, violent and demanding, behind the play of the manœuvres.


On parade in the winter mornings the Khojak wind blew through all our clothes, so that we felt as naked as the Pan Prancers of Hanna, and we marched and manoeuvred in the snow, and came back sweaty and dirty to hot baths and the formalities of the mess. At Christmas we formed bands of waits and went singing carols down the long straight cantonment roads where the senior officers lived with their wives and families just as they had done before the war; and when we went to the flicks we wore high padded felt boots and sweaters and took rugs, too, to spread over our knees and legs, under which hands were held and silent promises made. In the Gurkha Officers’ Mess Subadar Major Sahabir reigned, and we went often to drink raksi and dance the jaunris there, because soon it would all be different; more exciting, perhaps, but different. And chaps in the right sort of uniform would still put their monocles in their eye and look slowly up and down chaps in the wrong sort of uniform, and take the monocle out and turn away, without saying a word …


The wheels of Delhi turned, our number fell. They sent us over a thousand miles south, by rail, to Poona, and warned us that our division was earmarked for Malaya, since the Japanese were making threatening faces in that direction. We threw away our Desert Warfare manuals, indented for Jungle Warfare Training pamphlets instead, and set out to find some jungle. Steel helmets we received, and camouflage netting for them, but no 2-inch or 3-inch mortars. N.A.


Once a week Ronny Smith, Roger Werner, ‘Shirley’ Temple and I would borrow a couple of nurses from the local hospital and take them out for a picnic ten miles up the river. The sun sank, turning the water pink and then dark violet, we played my portable gramophone on the bank, ate curry puffs and drank a can or two of beer, if we could find it, and returned in the dark to Poona. The next morning half the officers were at the arsenal again. We felt like firemen trying to find our shoes and socks while the alarm jangled ever louder and more hysterically in our ears.


In March, my cousin Marjorie, twenty-two years of age, newly married, dancing in London with her husband, a fighter pilot in the Royal Air Force, died under German bombs dropped into the Café de Paris.


In April, 1941, the powers took us out of the division that was due for Malaya and ordered us to Iraq to defend that country against possible German attack. Mr Hopkins, President Roosevelt’s special envoy, went to Iraq a little later and remarked to a British general, ‘The Persian Gulf is the arsehole of the world, and Basra is eighty miles up it.’ It was to this exact spot we were now to be sent, as a form of military enema.


I didn’t know much about Iraq but I did know it was mostly desert. We threw away the Jungle Warfare pamphlets and began a search for the Desert Warfare series. Before we found them we entrained for Bombay and boarded the troopship Devonshire, which at once eased out into mid-channel – and dropped her anchor. We waited.


What were we waiting for? The Indian Ocean was full of submarines. A German pocket battleship was loose off the East Coast of Africa. We were waiting to form a convoy.


None of this was true. We were waiting while the quartermasters went ashore to Bombay Arsenal. They came back with the rest of our Bren magazines, our first-line reserve of shell dressings, and four 2-inch mortars, complete with ammunition. The launches rocked alongside the gangway while fatigue parties of Gurkhas manhandled the awkward sacks on to the jury platform and into the ship, singing as they worked. But there were no 3-inch mortars and no Bren-gun carriers. N.A.


Still, all our rifles were clean-bright and slightly oiled, our bayonets sandblasted and matt-black so that they would not catch the light in night attacks, and our spirits rode high. The ship’s siren boomed thrillingly, imperiously. We were off!


Nothing happened. The captain had been calling to his mate. We waited a day or two more in the stream, studying the Yacht Club through field glasses to see if we could recognise the slackers drinking on the terrace there, and, what was much more interesting in India, recognise the women they were drinking with. We grappled with the British sailors’ inability to understand the administrative necessities of Gurkha soldiers. The food was not good nor were there proper places where it could be cooked. The Gurkhas, as usual, smiled through conditions which would have made some troops mutiny. Willy tramped rapidly up and down the decks, inspecting everything many times over.


One evening he sent for me to come to his cabin, where he told me abruptly that he thought we might have to make an opposed landing. At least we should be ready to do so.


This was ludicrous. We were going to Basra in fulfilment of a treaty pledge to protect Iraq should its recent independence be threatened by anyone; and it was certainly being threatened by Germany; or shortly would be. It was strictly a standard trooping movement. Nothing had been loaded or packed for an assault landing, which would have wasted valuable space in the ship. Willy listened glumly, and at last agreed that he was probably worrying over nothing. He almost admitted aloud that he worried too much; and I almost gave him an encouraging clap on the back. Our talk ended in one of his quick smiles, and he said, ‘Oh well, worse things happen at sea.’


We set sail, several ships protected by an Armed Merchant Cruiser. We had an uneventful trip to the mouth of the Persian Gulf, except for the arguments that developed when Santa Padhaya Dutt said blandly that he wasn’t fighting to maintain England’s rule over India, only to ensure that it was not replaced by Germany’s. It must be remembered that British officers of Gurkha battalions, spending most of their time protecting India’s frontiers against tribal raids, lived a life far removed from the turmoil of Indian or world politics. Dutt was regarded as something of an eccentric, not for his nationalism but because he knew about the matter at all and was interested in it. The rest of us had simply shut the whole thing out of our minds; when the time came, someone would tell us to go home; meanwhile we had a job to do. But all Englishmen love an eccentric and Dutt became very popular.


As we entered the Persian Gulf the temperature stood at 110, the humidity at 100 per cent. I was sitting in a deck chair, reading. A wild scream shocked me out of my book. A panting engine-room lascar, his eyes rolling, dashed out of the steel door beside me, ran across the deck, vaulted the rail, and leaped into the sea forty feet below. I rushed to the side, hardly believing my eyes. I felt so hot that, although it appeared that a lascar had become deranged, it might just as easily have been me. But there he was, fast drifting astern, and someone had already thrown him a lifebelt. ‘Man overboard,’ I croaked. The second time it came out better, in a full seamanlike bellow.


We picked him up eventually, but he died of heatstroke. I don’t know what the temperature in the engine-room was at that moment, but I stoked for an hour in very similar conditions when first going out to India in 1934, and the temperature then had been 149 degrees Fahrenheit.


I returned to my reading. Willy’s orderly appeared and said, ‘Colonel sahib salaam bhanchha.’ What now? I followed him. Willy was in his cabin. His worried frown had disappeared. ‘We’re going to make an assault landing,’ he said. He spared himself the pleasure of giving me even a grin.


Jesus Christ. No assault landing craft, only the ship’s lifeboats. No covering fire, except from the Armed Merchant Cruiser. No rehearsal. No communication channels. Where in hell was the reserve ammunition packed? The mortar bombs? Who was responsible for this bloody mess, anyway? I swore to myself that I would never believe a senior formation’s order again. Any troops I was responsible for would in future travel loaded and ready for action, however uncomfortable we were, however much space we took up, whatever orders I had to disobey.


The company commanders arrived and Willy explained what had happened. Some weeks earlier an Iraqi politician, Rashid Ali, had, with three others, formed a cabal and overthrown the government. The Golden Square, as the cabal called itself, was pro-Hitler. They had just informed England that Iraq did not need to be helped, since she was not threatened by anyone, except indeed the force now steaming from India to her assistance. She would resist the landing of that force, and would get help wherever she could. This obviously meant the Germans, who had recently conquered Greece. German bomber squadrons were already on their way to Iraq.


We steamed on. The brigade staff issued orders for the landing, detailing the various waves of assault, and the lifeboats allotted to each. I sub-allotted them to our companies, under Willy’s direction, and soon found my cabin full of the same mass of paper that I thought I had left behind in Poona. The riflemen clambered cheerfully in and out of the lifeboats, armed, if not to the teeth, at least to the waist. We thought that we would not meet very heavy opposition, since the bulk of the Iraqi Army was up-country near Baghdad. The enemy at Basra would be mostly armed police, who had already attacked the near-by R.A.F. base.


Just before we reached the mouth of the Shatt-al-Arab, the name by which the combined streams of the Tigris and Euphrates are known after their junction, we had a final rehearsal. The riflemen thought it a huge joke, and I was inclined to agree with them, though not so sure who was supposed to laugh. Some of these men, my men, were going to die, needlessly, because of some bloody fool’s over-optimism. Willy clapped me on the back and said, ‘It’ll be all right on the night, Jack.’


I retired to my cabin. Five minutes later Willy’s orderly arrived – ‘Colonel sahib salaam bhanchha.’


Willy showed me a copy of a signal that had just come in – Deflate balloon. Dock area in our hands.


I began to cheer up. Willy looked ready to cry. We landed late in the afternoon at the Basra docks, without fireworks, and marched into a grove of palm trees that stretched along the side of a road close to the river. The 2/4th Gurkhas had reached a theatre of war, preceded only – among Gurkha battalions – by the 2/7th, of 20 Brigade and that, as Willy pointed out, was pure bad luck.
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Chapter Three



Under the palms we lay in a marsh, the stifling air full of mosquitoes, and no one could find any drinking water. From the depths of the huddled city so close to us we heard occasional single shots, sudden bursts of machine-gun fire, and a few heavier crumping explosions. No one told us what it was all about so Willy doubled sentries and kept one company, in rotation, standing to arms throughout the night. In the morning we found that the commotion had been caused by the 2/7th Gurkhas fighting their way into the old city to give us all more elbow room. They had located a strong post held by a few Iraqi regulars, and the brigadier ordered us to support them in an attack. Willy and I drove into the narrow, stinking alleys to co-ordinate details with their colonel. We found him in a battered police station his battalion had captured during the night. He looked tired but cheerful and he had a peculiar gleam in his eye.


‘Morning, Willy,’ he said as we arrived, and then at once – ‘Do you know where our 2-inch and 3-inch mortars are? The ones that were N.A. all over India? … The Iraqi Army has them.’


This turned out to be true. The British Government had been supplying Iraq and other ‘allies’ with modern arms, leaving none for the regular battalions of the Indian Army, a force which even Mr Churchill came to learn was of more value to our cause than the Arab conscripts now busily supporting the Golden Square’s Nazi-inspired revolution.


We put in a brisk attack, alongside the 2/7th Gurkhas, more to get at our mortars than out of any pique at the enemy, who fired a few shots and fled. We settled down to hold Basra until more troops came, to release us for operations farther up-country.


We took over another police station for our headquarters, and spread the companies throughout the city. One company the colonel placed near a date-processing factory, if that is the right word to describe rows of old women, their teeth reduced to two, who expertly ripped the stones out of the dates (with the fang-like pair of teeth) at the rate of about a hundred a minute. Dates had become a prominent part of our ration, and they were excellent, but now we looked at them with near-nausea. Dutt assured us that the sugar content of the date is so high that no germ can survive in it for more than a few hours. He said that cholera, typhoid, and other disease bacilli had been massively injected into dates, with no result. We believed him. We had to; we were damned hungry.


One section of our Vickers machine-guns Willy placed on the flat roof of a big house near the river, where they had a good view down several streets. As we left the building after our preliminary reconnaissance Willy turned to me with his brow furrowed – ‘Jack, do you know what I believe that house to be?’


‘It’s a brothel,’ I said.


Willy was racked with anxiety. Did the house really offer the best field of fire available in that part of Basra? Would the girls tarnish the innocence of the young machine-gun officer, who must go through their quarters every time he went up to the roof to inspect the guns and the sentries? He told me to keep an eye on the situation. I saluted briskly and said, ‘Yes, sir?’


Later inspections convinced me that Peter McDowall’s morals were in no danger, yet. We had only been out of India a week, and the youngest ‘girl’ was a charitable forty. In the harsh Arabian morning charity was absent and I would have said nearer sixty. But, talking with the madame and some of the tarts over a cup of tea, I learned that there might be a security danger. Nearly all the women were enemy aliens, or had originated in countries now under Hitler’s dominion. Most of them were fair skinned, and even those who weren’t insisted that they were not ‘stinking Arabs,’ but Yugoslavs, Bulgarians, Hungarians, or – most often – Rumanians. Their histories showed a common pattern, a Grand Tour in reverse, which had imposed itself the moment they set out for the glamorous Orient. In their twenties the pimps shipped them to Cairo or Tripoli or Beirut. Ten years or so of profitable labour followed in those fine cities; but little of the profits stuck to the women’s fingers. Sagging charms and lined faces forced the next move – to Istanbul, Baghdad, Alexandria, or Aleppo, for another five or ten years, with possibilities of a side trip to Teheran. The routes from there to the end of the road were various, just as one can travel from New York to Los Angeles by an almost infinite variety of ways; but the end itself was always the same – this brothel in Basra.


However, we were not unfortunate whores but a battalion of Gurkha Rifles, and we were supposed to be making that Grand Tour in the opposite direction. It was time to get moving.


Since our moves for the rest of the summer took us through the Middle East like the writhings of a demented snake, I will summarise them here. First, needing more elbow room in and around Basra, we pushed the Iraqis back until they could no longer even threaten the port and the base that was already beginning to build up round it.


That done, we flew to the centre of the country, and helped chase away the Iraqis attacking a treaty-held British airfield at Habbaniyah, not far from Baghdad.


The Habbaniyah-Baghdad area then became, as it were, our launching pad. From it we made three boomerang-like sallies. First, in June, we went to Mosul, in the extreme north of Iraq, held that until conditions quietened – and returned to Habbaniyah.


Sally Two, in July and August, saw us hurtling northwest into Syria, almost as far as Aleppo and the Mediterranean – then back to Habbaniyah.


Sally Three, in August, September, and October, launched us northeast into Iran – then back to Baghdad.


That was the ‘large picture.’ From the worm’s eye view of an infantryman, this is what it looked like …


The spring flooding of the great rivers had begun. All the flat lands had become one huge lake, with isolated clumps of palms showing where the villages stood on higher ground. The road to the sea ran along a narrow embankment, over-arched with date palms, the yellow sweep of the river on one side, the still floods on the other. Fifteen miles to the west the ridge of Shaiba, where the R.A.F. had a base, stood out of the waters, and was safely held. South along the same ridge, our patrols found no enemy as far as Sinbad’s Tower.


Basra itself was split and criss-crossed by creeks and canals and water channels, all now full. In the city they ran, full of garbage and dhows and house scows, under the tottering, blind brick walls. Black-veiled women watched from dark corners, and dead dogs and babies and the entrails of donkeys swelled and stank in them under the glare of the sun. North a little, beyond the limits of the city, the creeks ran in tortured loops through palm and scrub and thickets of jungle. All these we searched, in narrow canoe-like boats commandeered for the purpose.


Once I went out with a boat patrol. For hours we paddled stealthily through a maze of channels, with never a view except down the shadowed waterways. We saw nothing until, near five o’clock, another boat appeared round a bend a hundred yards ahead. We challenged; it turned, heeling over under the frantic efforts of the two Arabs in it, and fled. The Bren gunner crouched uncomfortably in the bow of our canoe opened fire, but after he had fired three long bursts, the boat rocking with our efforts to gain speed, the canoe ahead vanished. We never found it again, and had a hard job finding ourselves, as we were moderately lost. When we eventually got back, I reported our adventure.


Willy had a peculiar look in his eye. ‘Show me where you were, on the map,’ he said.


I examined the map. I really had no idea. ‘Somewhere round here,’ I said.


‘And which direction were you firing in?’


The sun had been on my right, the shadows going from right to left across the creek. ‘About southeast,’ I said.


Willy rolled up the map. ‘Divisional headquarters is standing to in the Airport Hotel,’ he said happily. ‘Those chair-borne blighters have all been crouched under their desks since five o’clock, when someone put three long machine-gun bursts through the windows.’


‘Any casualties?’ I asked politely.


‘Unfortunately, no,’ Willy said. ‘I’ll tell them they can stand-down now. And look where you’re firing in future.’


Continuing to probe north, we found the roads and the flooded land clear as far as a creek and a bridge that emptied into the Shatt-al-Arab seven miles up, at Habib Shawi. These the enemy held.


We reconnoitred in force. On the approach march I saw a young rifleman begining to sway from side to side in the ranks. His comrades tried to support him but he fell away from them and walked into one of the rows of palms beside the road. The column marched on, and he had cannoned off several more trees and fallen down before help could reach him. His face was suffused, his eyes bulging out. This was heatstroke, and though Dutt sent him back at once, he died.


Later, during the assault we ran into accurate machine-gun fire aimed down the road. There was no advance, no cover, and no escape, except by swimming. Three men were killed, and we retreated.


A few days later we tried again, in a combined operation with the Navy. The captain of the Australian sloop Yarra put on Arab dress, and with two similarly disguised petty officers sailed up the Shatt in the dusk in an Arab boat, until they were opposite the Habib Shawi creek. Here they took soundings, discovered that the centre of the resistance was a big house just north of the creek, and silently dropped back down river. If we loaded a couple of companies into the Yarra and a felucca tied alongside it, we could assault the position from the river.


A conference was held to discuss fire support. The guns of the Yarra could fire over our heads as we assaulted the Big House. Good. And our own artillery could support us from its positions near the airfield. Good. Then we would advance again up the road. But where could the artillery officers find an elevated observation post from which to direct their fire after we had taken the Big House?


‘From the roof of the Big House itself,’ Willy said impatiently.


The captain of the Yarra shook his head. He pointed out that three 4-inch naval guns would have been firing at it from 400 yards or so, for ten minutes. The Big House would be a pitiful little heap of smoking wreckage. Willy bit his lip. How could he have overlooked such an obvious factor? He recovered himself.


‘Cotton wool for the ears?’ he asked.


The captain nodded – ‘Good idea. For anyone close to our guns.’


For their observation post the artillery cut down a telegraph pole, equipped it with guy ropes, steps, and a platform on top. It looked very dangerous, and was hell to load on to the Yarra. Finally we got it on board, where it lay along the upper deck like a giant, shorn Christmas tree, and everyone stumbled over it in the dark. We reinforced the deck with sandbags to stand the shock of recoil and placed our 3-inch mortars up there, with machine-guns between them. At two a.m. we sailed, while the rest of the battalion moved up to attack by the old route, to hold the enemy’s attention to the road.


Twenty minutes before dawn our assaulting companies were ready in the ship’s launch and the rowing boats. Willy and I stood in a corner of the bridge where a dim blue light shone on the captain’s strong jaw and curly black cheek whiskers. Light spread across the great yellow river, silhouetting us for the enemy, who were to our west. Out of the river mist rose a slender forest of palm trees and, just visible among them, the flat roof of the Big House.


H hour.


A long, furious burst of Bren-gun fire, from the Habib Shawi bridge, broke the ghostly peace. From the south I heard the dull bom-bom-bo-bom of our howitzers and began to count. The seconds ticked away, Bren and rifle fire increased round the creek and bridge, and now the enemy were firing back. The howitzer shells arrived and burst accurately round the Big House. The diversionary attack had started.


On the Yarra the captain picked up his speaking tube to the guns, ‘Target, bearing red nine-oh.’ Below me, just over the lip of the low bridge, the 4-inch guns swung round towards the land. The captain barked, ‘Shoot!’ I put my hands over my ears, already well plugged with cotton wool. Nothing happened.


Willy’s mouth opened and shut. I took the cotton wool plugs out of my ears and leaned over to hear what he was saying. Loud buzzers buzzed twice all over the ship, and the guns went off in my ear with an appallingly loud crack.


‘When they say “Shoot” they fire electrically when the roll is steady. That’s what the buzzer means,’ Willy bellowed into my aching ear. The guns fired again.


I gathered my wits and turned to watch the results of the shelling. The high-velocity shells, designed to pierce armour-plated warships at ranges of five miles, screamed straight towards the Big House, so close. Usually they hit a palm tree and ricocheted off into the dawn sky, fizzing with incandescence, headed for Arabia Deserta. By the time the gunfire had to be called off, when our assaulting boats touched the bank, several palm trees had been severely wounded.


On the bank our men, led by Beetle Lowis, broke into a run. Rifle and automatic fire increased, and a volley of grenades exploded in or near the house. Then the enemy fled northward up the road, but they had killed six of ours and six Madras Sappers, all in the diversionary force.


Willy and I went ashore and hurried up to the roof of the Big House. I noted that H.M.A.S. Yarra had bored one small hole through a corner of the upper wall, in addition to savaging the palm trees. The artillery observers disgustedy threw their telegraph pole into the river and joined us. Looking northward we saw many small round wicker boats being launched on to the inland floods which stretched away over the horizon. The artillery officer was through by radio to the guns. I urged him to hurry up and open fire. Willy had his binoculars to his eyes. He lowered them. ‘Wait!’ he said. ‘There may be women and children in those boats, too.’ As the boats were setting out from a concealed village up there, it was quite possible. The gunner and I were stern young men, racked with efficiency, and whether or not the boats contained women and children, they certainly contained enemy soldiers. I said so to the colonel. Willy looked at the boats another long time, but they were already too far for any such details to be made out. He spoke to the gunner, ‘Don’t fire on those boats.’ He turned away, his shoulders hunched.


Disgustedly I went about my job. I hoped Willy would think back to this next time we engaged these enemy and stood afterwards among our dead. Then later I thought, Damn it, it’s rather wonderful to know a man who would really rather be killed than do anything in the least dishonourable; and I tried to show him I thought he was right, but he remained unconsoled because his character had prevented him doing what a real ball-of-fire soldier would have done.


We marched back to Basra. Dutt had collected our dead in some underground tunnels which dotted the edge of the airfield, for what purpose I never discovered. There lay Jemadar Sakas, my old friend, soaking wet where the machine-gun bullets had thrown his body, on instant death, into the flood water. Subadar Major Sahabir and I went through his pockets for papers and valuables, and when we opened his mess tin there was nothing but a soggy chupatti, and the face grey and wet in death. The colonel appointed an even older friend, 6573 Havildar Sarbdhan Bura to take Sakasbahadur’s place in command of the Pioneer Platoon. We cleaned the mud out of our weapons, retold the story of the battle, and wondered – what next?


Three hundred miles north, on the right bank of the Euphrates, the Royal Air Force had a big airfield and base at Habbaniyah. The previous year the generals in charge of the Iraqi Army had come to their British allies and asked advice about the annual manœuvres. What did their British allies and friends think the Iraqi Army ought to be practising in these troubled times? The British replied with modest candour that they had no idea. The Iraqis, one of whom became a member of the Golden Square, said that, as a matter of fact, they themselves did have an idea. Suppose the Germans were to seize the airfield at Habbaniyah. The Iraqi Army, helped by whatever troops their British allies could send, would certainly have to seize it back again. It might therefore be a sound idea if the manœuvres consisted of a mock attack on Habbaniyah. Good idea, the British said, jolly good.


The manœuvres were held. The Iraqi Army’s generalship was studied carefully, errors in planning and execution were pointed out to them, and a good deal of information given about the defences of the base. By the end of the conferences the Iraqi generals were in possession of a plan, guaranteed by the British – indeed, made up by them – which would capture Habbaniyah Air Base.


This plan the Iraqi Army, on the orders of the Golden Square, now put into effect. It did not succeed, because they had not reckoned with the heroism of the Royal Air Force crews, who took off in training aircraft on a field actually under close range artillery fire; on the tough fighting of a British regular battalion flown in from Karachi; on the leadership of Colonel Ouvry Roberts; nor, above all, on the fanatical courage of the Assyrian Levies. (The R.A.F. employed several thousand locally enlisted Levies, so called, to guard its establishments in Iraq; a high pro-portion of these were Christian Assyrians. In their most earnest prayers the Assyrians could never ask for anything better than a chance to get at the Arabs who had systematically massacred them for so long.)


Habbaniyah held, but it was having a hard time. The Germans had moved bomber squadrons into Mosul, in the north, and fighters into Baghdad itself, both within comfortable range. We moved up to reinforce Habbaniyah, so that the defence could be turned into attack.


Our ‘A’ Company went at once. In succeeding days the rest of us followed, in mixed flights of Vickers Valencias and Douglas D.C.2s. My turn came. Non of the Gurkhas in my aircraft had flown before, so I gave them a short lecture on the safety of modern flying machines, explained the purpose of the paper bags, and urged them on no account to stand up or rush about inside the aircraft once we had taken off, however fearsome they found the experience. We emplaned, armed to the tonsils now, and loaded down with extra rations, maps, and all the paraphernalia of war.


We took off. I had concealed from the riflemen that this was only my second flight. I was by no means accustomed to, or particularly appreciative of, these twentieth-century fear-ecstasies, when the door shuts with a hollow and decisive thud, when the inanimate seat suddenly presses hard into the small of the back, one’s centre of gravity squats lower to the ground and the whole of one’s life is left behind by the rapid acceleration …


We skimmed the palm trees, crossed the network of canals, and the Big House, out over the flood waters where the wicker boats had fled from the fight. I wiped my forehead and looked round at the faithful soldiery with a reassuring grin. They were all asleep.


We turned west to avoid Messerschmitt fighters that might be looking for us on the direct route up the river, and for an hour headed into the desert that stretches from the Shatt-al-Arab to the Jordan. The sun was low in the west and the light slanted flat across the desert, so that the smallest rise or depression threw long, obvious shadows. Marks that stood only an inch or two above the rock and sand, or might even have been below it, showed the clear ground plan of houses and roads and cities, all long vanished. I forgot the Messerschmitts and the war, and for two hours, until the light failed, stared down at the faded, hurrying cinematograph of ancient civilisations. Here a wide road had run straight as a lance across the desert from north to south. (From where, to where, though? Roman? Arab? Chaldean? I searched my map, and could learn nothing.) Here had been a walled city, every street clearly defined, and something that looked as if it might have been a reservoir outside the walls … Here two roads crossed in the emptiness and there had been a house or temple at the junction. What was that thin straight line, a single mark only, running into the hazy southeast? Darkness came, and took back the past.


Soon we slanted down to land, in total darkness, nothing visible below. At the last moment, when the throttled-back hush of the engines only accentuated the rush of air over the wing surfaces, lights sprang up to mark the runway. We touched down and taxied to the dispersal point. Yawning, I began to gather my belongings. The door opened and a face appeared – ‘Out, quick!’


‘What’s the hurry?’ I asked.


‘We’re being bombed.’


I dashed up and down awakening the Gurkhas and we stumbled out into the stifling embrace of the heat. Two bombs fell at the other end of the runway – crash, crash – and the drone of engines filled the night above. On the ground all the lights had gone out again.


‘All right, Jack?’


‘Yes, sir.’


Willy was there, and gave me a marked chart showing me where to send the companies as they came in. Guides from ‘A’ Company waited in slit trenches under the hangar walls. The droning and crashes and crumps continued as German Heinkels from Mosul flew leisurely back and forth above us. About two in the morning they went home. Willy and I, our backs to a hangar at the edge of the airfield, ate dates and dry Army biscuits, washed them down with whisky and tepid, musty water and, later, tried to sleep, but it was too hot.


The other troops, assisted by our ‘A’ Company, now attacked east towards Baghdad, fifty miles away. We pushed west, up the Euphrates, to protect the back door. The temperature increased steadily. In the early afternoons, on the shadeless desert, it always reached above 120. We had several more cases of heatstroke.


One of these occurred in a platoon that was at the time on the farther side of the river, and I happened to be in the boat that brought him back to hospital. It was Paramdhoj, a small unexcitable man of thirteen years’ service. I hardly recognised him, not so much from any change in his physical appearance as in his manner. He was on the edge of delirium and under extreme nervous strain. He could hardly lie still and all the time his hands and feet and head jigged and kicked sideways, and his eyeballs rolled. He kept plucking, too, at his fly and muttering the Gurkhali word for ‘urine’ or ‘urinate.’ I remembered something Dutt had told me, that the inability to urinate, though desperately desiring to, was one of the worst agonies of heatstroke. We lifted Paramdhoj up and got his trousers and loin-cloth off. The stretcher-bearers held him while I splashed water over his genitals and made encouraging noises, as though putting a baby on the pot – an art of which I had no experience. Gurkhas have a very strong taboo against complete nakedness, even among other men, but it is their genius to adapt custom to environment, and no face in the boat showed any feeling except a desire to give Paramdhoj some relief. At last he succeeded, almost weeping for joy, and at once the near-delirium seemed to leave him, though he was exhausted.


Another relieving force arrived, having travelled across the desert from Palestine. It contained some Household Cavalry, who normally stand guard duty in Whitehall, splendid in long black boots, steel breastplates, and nodding plumes, but the majority were Yeomanry. The major-general in command was of course a regular, a cavalryman, and his first name was George. Normally this would have been a piece of information of little practical use to his subordinate officers or men, but Yeomanry were something special. At the general’s final inspection before the division left England for war, he had asked one of the Yeomanry colonels whether everything was in order. The colonel replied, ‘Oh, I think so, George.’ The general gently pressed for details – ammunition? Vehicles? Non-coms’ training? Gas-masks? The colonel scratched his head and said, ‘Dash it, I don’t know about any of that, George … but we’ve got forty dozen of champagne, well crated, and the pack of foxhounds is in fine fettle.’


George now took over command of all land forces from Colonel Roberts. John Strickland, of our ‘A’ Company, had the privilege of sitting in at one of his first conferences, and surreptitiously noted down a conversation that ran as follows:


The General: Well, I think we should send a patrol up the Euphrates for fifty miles or so, to make sure no one’s lying up in the desert out there.’


One of his Yeomanry colonels: ‘Good idea, George.’


The General: ‘From your regiment, I thought, Harry. About a troop, with a couple of guns, eh?’


The Colonel: ‘Oh yes, George … I think I’ll send Charles.’ The General (horror in his face): ‘Charles? Charles? Do you think he’ll go?’


We learned later that though 2nd Lieutenant Charles was distinctly vexed at being sent on such a piddling mission, he did finally agree to go, since George and Harry seemed to set so much store on it.


They were delightful people. My own favourite story about them concerns an early inspection, by the general, of one of the regiments. The Yeomanry colonel, going down the line introducing his officers, stopped before one captain, and said, ‘This is Captain … Captain …’ He shook his head, snapped his fingers and cried genially, ‘Memory like a sieve! I’ll be forgetting the names of me hounds next.’


In the meantime the King’s Own, the Levies, and our ‘A’ Company had captured the Euphrates crossing at Falluja in a smart, fierce fight. The road to Baghdad lay open. George, Harry, Charles, Rodney, Cecil and the rest climbed into their vehicles and thundered east, leaving us to garrison Habbaniyah. Willy strode up and down glaring at the sand. He whipped round on me – ‘They have no right to leave us here. We got here first. Rank favouritism.’


He did not cheer up until we got orders to fly to Mosul, 300 miles farther north. The Golden Square had fled, and the Iraqi Army, overawed by the pack of fox hounds and the height of the Life Guardsmen, signed an instrument of surrender in Baghdad; but there was no knowing whether the garrison commanders in the rest of the country would adhere to it. Mosul we had to have at once, to prevent the German bombers using it; but the very presence of the bombers would stiffen any resolve the local commander might have to fight on. So we were to fly to Mosul. When we got there we were either (1) to take it over, or (2) to capture it, according to circumstances.


We landed in unarmed transport planes under the muzzles of twenty anti-aircraft guns and a score of field guns, all at point blank range, no one (including the men behind the guns) being sure whether the triggers would be pulled or not. My bladder had become a small tight knot during the flight and the only way I could keep it from exploding as we landed was to rush down the aisle waking up Gurkhas and yelling at them, ‘We’re there! We’re coming in! Prepare for action!’ Two Hurricanes circled overhead, the Gurkhas tumbled sleepily out of the planes. Subadar-Major Sahabir, looked round and grunted, ‘Bad climate.’ No one fired a shot.


After a time we returned to Habbaniyah. The battalion went by truck but I was not with them, for a case of athlete’s foot went bad on me, and Willy had ordered me into hospital. For a time the doctors looked as if they were going to cut my foot off. Finally they painted it purple instead and released me. I flew down in a Valencia against a strong headwind, on a burning hot day. The air over the desert heaved with a thick, visible turbulence and as the aircraft, which could only just qualify as a heavier-than-air machine, bumped and floated south with its two mighty engines (about 200 h.p.) at full throttle I watched an old gentleman on a camel five hundred feet below us. He also was heading south, and I watched him for a long, long time. At one moment I saw that he was passing us, and made ready to complain to the R.A.F., but we were turning, and it was an optical illusion – but only just.


Outside Habbaniyah the battalion gathered, now all together again for the first time since we had left Basra. We had completed Sally One.
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Chapter Four



We lived in tents beside a lake over the ridge from Habbaniyah. Naturally we had no amenities, except millions of huge, soft-bodied squashy flying insects that got into our tea, our food, our beds, and made a jelly under our feet; but the R.A.F. inside the air base had a fine club, with walls and a roof and chairs and all, and they had real female nurses, and a swimming pool. We junior officers organised a sortie.


The sandbags had been removed from the club windows and the blackout lessened; it was now merely stifling. On arrival we deployed at the far end of the bar and, after a few drinks, began to sing the German national anthem. The R.A.F. officers, and officers of other regiments, began to look at us in a marked manner. We sang louder, and between verses we agreed that we didn’t deserve to win the war; we were decadent and effete; we didn’t want to fight our German friends; we liked them; besides, we were frightened. Roger Werner, who always carried things farther than was necessary, said he wouldn’t fight anyone. The R.A.F. edged along the bar towards us, many a fist doubled, many a top tunic button undone in the Battle-of-Britain tradition. The rest of the Army seemed to be against us too, and those faces that I could see were an unhealthy shade of violet. (We learned later that most of the other Army officers in the bar came from a British regiment which had recently broken and run away under heavy Italian bombing in Abyssinia. This was an unhappy coincidence.)


Just before the rush began the nearest warriors heard the words we were singing to the grand old tune:


Ours is not a happy household, no one laughs or ever smiles,


Mine’s a dismal occupation, crushing ice for father’s piles.


Jane the under housemaid vomits every morning just at eight,


To the horror of the butler, who’s the author of her fate.


We began the second verse:


Sister Sue has just aborted for the forty-second time.


Uncle James has been deported for a most unusual crime …


The honest faces lit up with pleasure, drinks appeared before us, and we were kept busy teaching them the words. Soon when they were all singing, we sneaked out, found and collected all the four nurses then available in Habbaniyah, and took them to the swimming pool. There we ate sandwiches, drank whisky straight from the bottle, sang, and, later lay down in a row in the road in underpants (men) and bathing suits (women) – lady, gent, lady, gent – our Vernon Betts on one end without a nurse, because he was married. Then we kissed the girls good night and good-bye, and drove back to our camp and the flying insects. War was rather a lark.


Training continued. On night driving practice two 15-hundred-weight trucks, crawling one behind the other, drove over a thirty-foot cliff at the edge of camp, the second landing perfectly on top of the first in an early example of vertical parking. The trucks were undamaged, as of course were the Gurkhas in them.


We met our new divisional commander, Major-General Bill Slim, late of the 6th Gurkhas. He had just been promoted to us from a brigade on the Abyssinian front where, we heard, his preferred command position was within whispering range of his leading riflemen, and where he had received a burst of machine-gun bullets fired into his rear elevation by an Italian aircraft. So far we had hardly been conscious of any formation larger than the 21st Brigade, of which our battalion was a part. To impress on us that the 21st Brigade in its turn was part of something larger, the 10th Indian Infantry Division, Slim gathered together all his officers then available in Habbaniyah and, in an R.A.F. hangar, lectured us on his doctrine of war.


This is a sensible and necessary thing to do, since a good division functions as an extension of the mind and will of its commander; but it is also a very tricky thing to succeed with. All the regulars in his audience had received many such lectures in their time, and, in the majority of cases, had gone away with the impression that their general was a pompous old blatherskite.


The quiet that fell in the hangar when Bill Slim entered was not, therefore, entirely of awed expectation. It was, in part, a judicial hush. We waited.


Slim was squarely built, with a heavy slightly undershot jaw and short greying hair. He began to speak, slowly and simply, with no affectation. He told us first that we had done a good job in the Iraqi campaign. But no one could call that a very serious business. He had already seen enough of our fighting spirit and our technical competence to know that we needed little teaching there. What he wanted to do was to prepare us, practically and above all mentally, for the heavier fighting that we must soon meet.


By now he had our whole attention. He talked a bit about matters that still needed attention – road discipline, defence against air attack, battle drills to speed up the execution of orders … Then he began to talk about the nature of modern war, of what it was really like when you engaged an enemy as determined, as numerous, and perhaps better armed than yourselves. Then, he said, tactics and strategy, important though they have been and still are, become less central. Situations develop which no tactical or strategical move can alter …


We make the best plans we can, gentlemen, and train our wills to hold steadfastly to them in the face of adversity, and yet to be flexible to change them when events show them to be unsound, or to take advantage of an opportunity that unfolds during the battle itself. We have already trained our men to the highest possible level of skill with their weapons and in their use of minor tactics. But in the end every important battle develops to a point where there is no real control by senior commanders. Each soldier feels himself to be alone. Discipline may have got him to the place where he is, and discipline may hold him there – for a time. Co-operation with other men in the same situation can help him to move forward. Self-preservation will make him defend himself to the death, if there is no other way. But what makes him go on, alone, determined to break the will of the enemy opposite him, is morale. Pride in himself as an independent thinking man, who knows why he’s there, and what he’s doing. Absolute confidence that the best has been done for him, and that his fate is now in his own hands. The dominant feeling of the battlefield is loneliness, gentlemen, and morale, only morale, individual morale as a foundation under training and discipline, will bring victory.’


I went back to our camp in a thoughtful mood. Slim’s sort of battle wouldn’t be much of a lark, after all.


Far to the west General Wavell, Commander-in-Chief in the Middle East, asked Dentz, the Vichy-French governor of Syria, for an assurance that he would not permit any German infiltration into that country. Dentz refused. We could not afford to leave it at that, since Syria’s borders touched the Mediterranean, also Palestine, Iraq, and Turkey. A German dominance there might easily have rocked Turkey off its neutrality, on the wrong side. Wavell ordered Syria to be taken over, by attacks from Palestine and Iraq.


A few days later, at the end of June, 1941, our 21st Brigade moved up the Euphrates towards the Syrian border. We moved in column, all in trucks, along a blinding road, no more than a whiter glare in the desert. The earth shimmered and heaved, at first only in the distance, then closer and closer until sometimes the trucks in front of me took on the distorted shapes of animals, or vanished altogether. I felt heatstroke closing in on me. The dust billowed up now and I began to choke. My thirst increased until I could not identify the seat of it, for it was general all over my body. Swaying in the front of the truck, waves of heat crawling inside me, I held desperately to the discipline that would not allow us to touch our water-bottles until a fresh supply was at hand. Naru my orderly, the driver, and the two signallers in the truck with me were suffering too, but apparently not so severely. Naru tried to make me drink from his bottle. The wind blew steadily into our faces, at forty miles an hour and 140 degrees. The sweeping desert blurred and I thought, What a way to die. I wondered if I looked like little Manbahadur, who died stumbling amongst the palm trees. Now I saw palms, and the swaying, jumping hovels of an Arab village. An oasis … but it would not save me. We had to keep going. The truck slowed and I muttered to the driver, ‘Keep distance.’
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